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I. INTRODUCTION "

|
Defendant xélan, Investment Services, Inc. is a registered investment advisor. ' It is owned

by Dr. L. Donald Guess ("Guess™), and affiliated with xélan, the Economic Association of
Healthcare Professionals, Inc. (the “Association”), a non-profit membership organization. It

|
provides asset management services to Doctors Benefit Insurance Company, Ltd. (“DBIC") and the

_xélan Foundation {“Foundation™), as well as investment management services to xélan members and

their pension plans. Defendant xélan Annuity Company, Inc. is a company ewned by Guess that
provided insurance products to xélan members. Defendant :xuélan Administrative Services is a
co__rﬁpany that provided bookkeeping and personnel services, and assisted in the sharing of expenses
by the various xélan entities. |

For the last several years, a DBIC insurance product, the Group Supplemental Disability
Policy (“Group Policy”) has been the focus of scores of Internal Revenue Service (“IRS") civil
examinations. The Group Policy was designed by an independent law firm, with spécial expertise
in the area of insurance and offshore captive insurance companies. This law firm, as well as a
second law firm, provided opinions regarding the tax consequences of the programs. To date, no
court has ruled on the deductibility of the disability insurance premiums made by xélan:: members for
their participation in the Group Policy. ;

DBIC has filed a separate opposition, as has the founder of xélan, L. Donald (}:‘uess, and the
Foundation. In this brief, we will attempt not to duplicate their arguments, but we ;dopi them by

]
reference here. In this brief, the Defendants address: (1) the lack of statutory basis for the
|

I
b
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i
extraordinary relief sought by the government; and (2) the government’s assertion that the Group

Policy operates a fraud on the xélan members who participate in that program. |

II. THERE IS NO STATUTORY BASIS FOR THE REQUESTED RECEIVERSHIP.

The complaint is brought under two statutes, 18 U.S.C. § 1345 and 26 U.S.C. § 7402,
which provide this Court with authority to enter injunctions in fraud cases and tax cases,
respectively. Under the auspices of the fraud injunction statute (18 U.S.C. § 1345), the government

seeks to freeze all of Guess’s personal assets, all of the assets of several corporations of which
’ !

oy M

Guess is the sole owner (including four entities which are presently involved in. Chapter 11

Proceedings), as well as those of DBIC and the Foundation, on the grounds that policyholders of the

.

insurance company and the donors to the Foundation were defrauded into paying p'remiums and
!

making contributions. Then, rather than return the assets to the alleged “victims,” which would be

the norm in a fraud case, the government seeks to hold onto these assets under the au;thority of the

tax injunction statute (26 U.S.C. § 7402), on the theory that the “victims” will in turn owe large
J ‘

amounts of federal income tax, based on their participation in the programs offered through xélan.
Hence, the government seeks to freeze and hold all assets to satisfy yet undetermined tax liabilities,
disregarding entirely the interests of creditors in the Chapter 11 Proceedings, policyholders of the
insurance company, and the fundamental rights of Guess to utilize his assets to defend his freedom.

ﬁ

The statutes provide no basis for the extraordinary and completely unwarranted relief requested in
|

this case. -

A. There Is No Basis For A Receivership Under 18 U.S.C. § 1345,

Section 1345(a)(1) of Title 18 provides that if a person is violating or about to violate certain

Title 18 frand statutes, including sections 1341 and 1343, or committing or about to commit a

-2-
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federal health care offense or banking law violation, the Attorney General “may commence a civil
action in any Federal court to enjoin such violation.” In the case of federal health care;violations or
banking law violations, 18 U.S.C. § 1345(a)(2)' provides statutory authority for the issuance of a
restraining order, including the appointment of a temporary receiver, when the gO\}ernment can

establish:

. ' |
[the] person is alienating or disposing of property, or intends to dispose of
property, obtained as a resuit of a banking law violation ... or a federal health

care offense, or property which is traceable to such violation ... .
|

g The gover;i}nent has not.t alleged any .rype of banking law violation or fedefal healthcare
offense. Nor has it alleged that the property over which ilt seeks to appoint a receiver wz;s “obtained
as a result of a banking law \;iolation ... or a federal health care offense.” ll

Assuming, arguendo, that there is evidence of ongoing violations of either 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1341 or 1343 (which Defendants vigorously dispute), there is no statutory provision for the
appointment of a receiver as a remedy.? The only way this Court could appoint a receiver would be
in the exercise of its equitable powers. But, as the Supreme Court held in De.’}.-i’efarsj Consolidated

Mines, Lid. v. United States, 325 U.S. 212, 65 U.S. 1130 (1945), the interim relief of an asset

freeze/appointment of a receiver is only appropriate if the court has the authority to enter final

' Section 1345(a)(2) was added by the Crime Control Act of 1990, Pub.L. No. 101-647,

§ 2521(b)(2), 104 Stat. 4789, 4865, 4925 (1990). Subtitle XXV (B}, which contained the “banking
law violation” amendments to 1345, was entitled “Protecting Assets from Wrongful Disposition.”
The legislative history indicates that the purpose of the statute was to enhance the United States’
ability to prevent the wrongful disposition of assets after banking law violations had occurred.
H.R.Rep. No. 101-681, 101* Cong., 2™ Sess. 74, reprinted in 1990 U.S.C.A.N. 6472, at 6584.
Also see the Statement of Rep. Schumer,136 Cong.Rec. H13288, H13296 (Oct. 27, 1990) (*We
provide for prejudgment attachment and asset freezes. You do not want the savings and loan crooks
to abscond and escape with their money. This bill will stop it.™)

* The government has also alleged that Guess violated 18 U.S.C. § 1954. This statute is not one of
the predicate statutes which gives rise to the ability to seek an injunction under 18 U.S.C. § 1954.

-3
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injunctive relief of the same character. Here, 18 U.S.C. § 1345 does not provide the district court

with authority to enter such relief. !

In DeBeers, the government brought an action to enjoin violations of the Sherman Act,
specifically an alleged conspiracy to monopolize trade in gems and industrial diamonds (allegedly
illegal under Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Abt). The action was brought under Segtion 4 of the
Sherman Act, which conferred jurisdiction upon district courts “to prevent and restrain: violations of

this act.” The government requested and the district court had granted a restraining order, covering

over $700,000 in assets. While the government argued that the restraint of assets was within the
« 1 ! .

district court’s inherent power in equity, the Supreme Court disagreed; ‘

Under the Sherman Act and the Wilson Tariff Act, the District Court has no
Jurisdiction in this suit to enter a money judgment. Its only power is to restrain
the future continuance of actions or conduct intended to monopolize or restrain
commerce. It, of course, has the power, pending final action in this respect, to
restrain action or conduct violative of the statute. A preliminary injunction is
always appropriate to grant intermediate relief of the same character as that
which may be granted finally. The injunction in question is not of this character.
It is not an injunction in the cause, and it deals with a matter lying wholly
outside the issues in the suit. It deals with property which in no circumstances
can, be dealt with in any final injunction that may be entered. It is not a form of
seizure of property used in offending against the statute for the property: is not
such as might be seized under s 6 of the Sherman Act or under § 76 'of the
Wilson Act, and the complaint and affidavits do not so charge. The process is,
and can only be, sustained as a method for providing compliance with other
process which conceivably may be issued for satisfaction of 2 money judgment
for contemnpt. |

325 U.S. at 220, 65 S.Ct. at 1134 (Footnotes omitted. Emphasis supplied).

The language of the 18 U.S.C. § 1345(a)(1} provides that the Attorney General may commence
an action “to enjoin such vielation.” This language of § 1345(a)(1) does not differ materially from the
language of the Sherman Act at issue in DeBeers, which provides the district court with afuﬂlority to

“prevent and restrain violations,” allowing the government to request that the violation shall “be
!
-4~ ‘
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enjoined or otherwise prohibited” and authorizing the issuance of a “temporary restraining order or

prohibition as shail be deemed just.”

The courts continue to apply the rule in DeBeers to determine if a requested restraint on
assets is within the power of the district courts.’ Indeed, the continued vitality of DeBeers was

recently reaffirmed by the Supreme Court in Grupo Mexicano de Desarrollo, S.A. v. Alliance Bond

Fund, Inc., 527 U.S. 308, 326-327, 119 S.Ct. 1961, 1972 (1999).

In Reebok Int'l, Lid. v. Marnatech Entertainment, Inc., 970 F.2d 552 (9* Cir. 1992), the

Ninth Circuit recognized that, under DeBeers, the power to restrain assets does not exist in every

1
case: \

While a court generally has the. power ‘to preserve the status quo by equitable
means {and][a] preliminary injunction is such a means,’ [Republic of
Philippines v.] Marcos, 862 F.2d [1355] at 1361 [(9" Cir. 1988) (en banc)),
the equitable power to freeze assets does not exist in all cases: it exists only as
‘ancillary relief necessary to accomplish complete justice.’ [FTC v. H. N.]
Singer, [Inc.}, 668 F.2d [1107] at 1113 [(9" Cir 1982)]. ‘Because the
authority to issue a preliminary injunction rests upon the authority to give
final relief, the authority to freeze assets by a preliminary injunction must rest
upon the authority to give a form of final relief to which the asset freeze is an
appropriate provisional remedy. Id. at 1113. \

Reebok, 970 F.2d at 560 (emphasis supplied).

|
In the Reebok case, the Ninth Circuit ruled that a preliminary asset freeze was a'ppropriate
|

because the statute at issue (the Lanham Act) provided the trademark holder with a right to an
accounting for and return of the infringer’s fraudulently obtained profits as a form of final equitable

relief. Reebok, 970 F.2d at 559-560.

) In Fed. Sav. & Loan Insur. Corp. v. Dixon, 835 F.2d 554, 560 (5" Cir. 1987) and Hoxworth v.
Blinder, Robinson & Co, Inc., 903 F.2d 186 (3d Cir. 1990), the Courts of Appeal determined that
the restraint sought exceeded, in whole or in part, the authority of the district court. However, in;
Reebok Int’l, Ltd. v. Marnatech Entertainment, Inc., 970 F.2d 552 (9" Cir. 1992) and Teradyne,
Inc. v. Mostek Corp., 797 F.2d 43 (1" Cir. 1986), the Courts distinguished the various
circumstances before it from DeBeers, and held that that pre-judgment restraint was available
because the nature of final relief in the case might include a money award or its equivalent.

-5-
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In this case, the operative language of § 1345(a)(1) is nearly identical to that of Section 4 of
the Sherman Act (the statute at issue in DeBeers). Both statutes provide the govermneﬂt with the
authority to seek an injunction against the defendant’s violation of a set of statutes. Thus, following
the precepts set out in DeBeers, unless there is some final equitable relief authorized unlder the
statute, an asset freeze is inappropriate. Unlike the Lanham Act provisions at issue in Reebok,

§ 1345(a)(1) does not authorize the ability to seek an accounting or a return of improperly. obtained

profits as a form of final equitable relief. o

The only case to address the limitations imposed by DeBeers in the context of ajpreliminary
injunction action under § 1345 is United States v. Cohen, 152 F.3d 321 (4" Cir. 1998). Following
DeBeers, the Cohen court ruled that the inherent equitable power of the court did not ;;rovide a
basis for an asset freeze. Cohen, 152 F.3d at 324. The court ruled that an asset freeze might be
appropriate under 18 U.S.C. § 1345(a)(2), as the government had claimed that the deféndant was

disposing of property obtained as result of past banking law violations. Cohen, 152 F.3d at 325.¢

* In the late 1980s and early 1990s, two courts ruled that the version of 18 U.S.C. § 1345 in place
at the time (which did not include provisions permitting restraining orders for banking law
violations or federal healthcare offenses), along with the general equitable powers of the court,
provided broad authority for the issuance of restraining orders that froze assets. United States v.
Cen-Card Agency/C.C.A.C., 724 F. Supp. 313, 318 (D.N.J. 1989), aff'd in part and dismissed in
part on other grounds, 961 F.2d 1569 (3d Cir. 1992); United States v. William Savran & Assoc.,
Inc., 755 F. Supp. 1165, 1182 (E.D.N.Y. 1991). Subsequently, in United States v. Brown, 988
F.2d 658, 661-662 (6th Cir. 1993), the court specifically considered the statute after its amendment
in 1990 (in the wake of the S&L. scandals) to provide for the ability to obtain asset freezes in
situations where banking law violations are alleged (18 U.S.C. § 1345(a)(2)). With re'spect to non-
banking law violations, the Brown court followed Cen-Card and Savran, and ruled that the district
court had the general power to grant asset freezes under the statute and pursuant to its general
equitable powers. None of these cases, however, addressed the limitations imposed by DeBeers and

its progeny. !
6o
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Even if the requested asset freeze did not run afoul of DeBeers and Reebok, the %njunctive
relief requested in this case is unprecedented in that it does not attempt to provide restitution to
those the government contends are “victims.” Rather, the government seeks to delay the restitution
on behalf of a potential creditor of the putative victims, i.e., the JRS. At least one court has noted
the potential constitutional problems with respect to an indefinite asset freeze:

Although the statute contemplates the possibility of injunctive relief at any
stage of the proceedings, as a practical matter any preliminary injunction will
almost certainly be followed in a timely fashion by a criminal proceeding. A
permanent injunction freezing assets not followed by a criminal trial would be
virtually impossible to justify and would undoubtedly invite serious ‘
constitutional challenge.

United States v. Fang, 937 F. Supp. 1186, 1197 n.11 ‘(D. Md. 1996). Fundamental notions of due

1

process are clearly violated in light of the government’s efforts to freeze all of Guess’s ?assets at the
same time he is the target of a criminal investigation. Likewise, the government cannot

constitutionally justify seeking a receiver on the grounds of fraud, but then retain the al:leged

victims® funds on behalf of a potential creditor of the victims.

B. There Is No Statutory Basis For A Receivership Under 26 U.S.C. § 7402(a). :

In an ordinary fraud case, a receiver would be tasked with returning the money he/she collected

to the “victims.” In this case, the government requests that the funds collected by the recleiver not be
returned, but rather be held by the receiver for the benefit of the government, which antic;ipates having
substantial tax claims agaiﬁst the “victims.”™ As support for its request for the appointment of a
receiver, the government relies upon 26 U.S.C. § 7402(a), which, in the government's vilew, allows
the district court to grant any request that might assist the IRS in the enforcement of the Internal

Revenue Laws. Memorandum of Points and Authorities (“Govt. Memo™) at pgs. 11-12. 'While the

district courts possess broad authority to take steps to compel compliance with the Internal Revenue
-7 -
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|
Laws, the request for relief made here vastly exceeds the relief available because: (1) there is no

federal tax dispute before the district court that justifies the interim appointment of a receiver; (2) the
IRS’s legal remedies are more than adequate; and (3) the government has failed to meet the
requirements of procedural due process by offering a prompt post-deprivation hearing to those xélan

members whose interest in the policies were seized without notice. J

1. There Is No Federal Tax Dispute Before The Court That Justifies The
Appointment Of A Receiver.

Section 7402(a) of Tiile 26 provides the district courts with,

jurisdiction to make and issue in civil actions, writs and orders of injunction, and
of ne exear republica, orders appointing receivers, and such other orders and
processes, and to render such judgments and decrees as may. be necessary or
appropriate for the enforcement of the internal revenue laws.

While the language is broad, the propriety of the relief sought is determined on a case by case
basis. United States v. Maryans, 803 F. Supp. 1378 (N.D. Ind. 1378) (citing United Stat%zs v. Mellon
Bank, N.A., 521 F.2d 708, 711 (3d. Cir. 1975. The appointment of a receiver is not autllforized
merely because a party may ultimately be found to be indebted for taxes. Goldfine v. Uni%ed States,
300 F.2d 260, 264 (1* Cir. 1962). Here, the situation is even further removed, because t;llle persons

who the government asserts may owe additional taxes to the IRS are not even parties to these

proceedings.
!

While § 7402 authorizes the appointment of a receiver, such appoiniment is a fom:l of

provisional relief, placing assets in the control of the court, in order that the court can later determine
}

the respective rights of the parties to these assets:

The appointment of a receiver is incidental to the purpose of effecting other
relief. Pouliot v. West India Fruit Co., 283 Mass. 182, 186 N_E. 52, Willson v.
Waltham Warch Co., 293 F. 811 (D.Mass. 1923). ‘The possession of the
receiver is the possession of the court; and the court itself holds and administers

-8 - !
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the estate through the receiver, as its officer, for the benefit of those whorit the
court shall ultimately adjudge to be entitled to it Porter v. Sabin, 149 U.S.
473, 479, 13 S.Ct. 1008, 1010, 37 L.Ed. 815; United States v. Bank of New
York & Trust Co., 296 U.S. 463, 56 S.Ct. 343, 80 L.Ed. 331 (1936); Wellman
v. North, 256 Mass. 496, 152 N.E. 886 (1926); Harrison v. J.J. Warren Co.,
183 Mass. 123, 66 N.E. 589 (1903). ‘

Goldfine v. United States, 300 F.2d 260, 263 (1* Cir. 1962) (Emphasis supplied.).? |

Here, the government has not requested the appointment of a receiver as pieliminary or
|

incidental 1o the court’s subsequent determination of the rights of the various parties in the assets over

which a receivership is sought. In fact, the government is not even requesting that this Court

ultimately determine who is entitled to the assets placed under receivership. Indeed, if the iRS
ultinately asserts additional tax‘liab‘ll‘ities against xélan members who participated in' the Gfopp Policy
or.comn'buted to the Foundation, and these asserted liabilities are contested, the existence a'nd amount
of these liabilities will be litigated in the United States Tax Court, the United States Districtf Court for
the district where the various xélan members reside, or the United States Court of Federal Claims.
Except with respect to those xélan members who reside in the Southern District of California (who in
any event may choose to litigate in the Tax Court or the Court of Federal Claims), the issue of the tax
liabilities of the xélan members will never be before this Court. Even if one or more xélan members
residing in the Southern District of California file refund actions in this Court, that refund écn’on will
not be part of the instant case. Thus, the appointment of a receiver to hold funds (which the

|

government alleges belong to the xélan members) for the benefit of the IRS is not proper in this case

because the issue of the IRS’s entitlement to such funds cannot and will not be adjudicatedas part of

this action.
|

3 In Goldfine v. United States, 300 F.2d 260, 262 (1* Cir. 1962), the court held that the govermnent
was not entitled to the “drastic remedy of receivership” if it were fully secured by solid liens.
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The collection of past due tax monies, as the United States concedes, is

encompassed by specific remedial statutes which govern the usual procedures to

collect such monies. See, e.g., 26 U.S.C. §§ 6201 ef seq. (assessments) 6321 et
~ seq. (liens), 6330 et seq (levy), 6751 (penalties). '

Molen, at ¥4 (Emphasis supplied). Reviewing a case where an employer simply failed to recognize its
withholding obligations, arguing that wages were exempt from federal income taxes and 053tmcting the

IRS rather than litigating any bona fide tax law contention, the Molen court ruled that this was an
]

extraordinary case where the usual remedies might permit the liabilities to pyramid. Molen, at *4.
Ultimately, the court 6rc‘ierecI that the defendants fully comply with the tax payment and withholding
requirements imposed on employers, but did not order payment of any outstanding, past due liabilities
{taxes, interest, and penalties) in the preliminary injunction that it ultimately issued. Molen, at *4.
Other courts have (‘:oncluded that the existence of other, more specific legal remedie;s weighs
heavily against the issuance of an injunction under § 7402(a). For example, in United Slateis v. Mobil
Corp., 543 F. Supp. 507 (N.D. Tex. 1981), the court denied the IRS’s request for an injunction
commanding the inspection of the company’s records because Congress provided adnﬁnistrgtivc/legal
proceedings to serve precisely that purpose, i.e., 26 U.S.C. § 7602 (providing for inspectio]n of
records). Likewise, in United States v. James, 2004 WL 838078, at *3 (M.D. Ga. 2004), t;he court
concluded that the statutory injunction provisions of 26 U.S5.C. §§ 7407 and 7408 provided Iadequate
legal remedies to deter the preparers of fraudulent slavery reparations claims, and ruled that additional

affirmative relief sought under § 7402(a) would not be granted.

3. If Assets Are Seized In Satisfaction OFf Tax Liabilities, Constitutional Due Process
Requires A Prompt Post-Deprivation Hearing. |

|
The relief requested under § 7402(a) in this case, the appointment of a receiver to collect funds

for the benefit of the IRS, violates the constitutional requirement of procedural due process. When

|
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property is taken by the government, via ex parte proceedings under § 7402(a) or othcrwis:i:, the
|

government is constitutionally required to offer either a pre-deprivation hearing or a promp:t post-

deprivation hearing. In re Carlson, 580 F.2d 1365, 1373-1374 (10" Cir. 1978), citing Co;%mzissioner

|
v. Shapiro, 424 U.S. 614, 629, 96 5.Ct. 1062, 1072 (1976). The Internai Revenue Code a,‘nd the
|

Treasury Regulations are replete with measures providing taxpayers with the opportunity t(# address

|
any dispute with the IRS administratively (both with the Examination Division and the Office of

Appeals) and judicially, prior to the entry of an assessment. Even in situations where the Code permits
|

the entry of a jeopardy assessment and the immediate institution of collection action l;y the iRS, the
. e |

affected taxpayers are afforded the right to appeal these determinations administratively anq judicially

on an expedited basis. See 26 U.S.C. §§ 6851 et seq., 6861 et seq., and 7429. 1

|
Here, the affected xélan members are policyholders with rights in insurance policies, who have

had their interests in the policy (which include the right to disability payments in the event of disability

or the return of an experience adjusted refund at the end of a policy period) “taken” by virtjue of the

receivership over the assets of DBIC. Other affected xélan members are donors to the Fou!ndation,
|

whose expectations regarding their ability to advise regarﬁing future charitable giving have ;been upset.

Despite this taking, no prompt post-seizure hearing is contemplated. |
|

|

III. THE GOVERNMENT HAS NOT PROVEN FRAUD WITH RESPECT TO THE GROUP
POLICY. !
|

A. Representations Regarding Segregated Accounts, Risk Shifting, and Risk Distrilbution
Were Not Fraudulent. ‘ |

IRS Revenue Agent John Marien (“Marien”) asserts that “the essential components of risk

shifting and risk distribution required for genuine insurance are not present for the [Grmilp Policy].”
Declaration of John Marien (“Marien Dec”), § 18. Marien explains that “risk shifting?L means that
i
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